
JOINT AIRPORT COMMISSION/ UTILITIES COMMISSION MEETING 
Thursday, February 25, 2016 – 9:30 a.m. 

City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. SOLAR FARM PRESENTATION – Con-Edison Solutions 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
4. ADJOURNMENT 
 
*Please note that upon adjournment the Airport Commission will hold their 
regularly scheduled meeting. 
 

AIRPORT COMMISSION AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 A) November 5, 2015 
 
3. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
 

A) Chairman 
B) Vice Chairman 

 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A) North Ramp Parcel 3 (former Airport Operations Building) 
B) North Ramp Parcel 12 (current Sheriff’s Hangar) 

 
5. OLD BUSINESS 
 
 A) Update on Airport Master Plan 
 
6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS 
 
7. MEMBER’S MATTERS 
 
8. AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S MATTERS 
 
9. NEXT MEETING DATE 



 
10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
This is a Public Meeting.  Should any interested party seek to appeal any decision made 
by the Commission with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, 
they will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, they may need to 
ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the 
testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  Anyone who needs a 
special accommodation for this meeting may contact the City’s Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) Coordinator at 978-4922 at least 48 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 



VERO BEACH AIRPORT COMMISSION MEETING 
Thursday, November 5, 2015 – 9:30 a.m. 

City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida 
 

PRESENT: Chairman, Barbara Drndak; Vice Chairman, Richard Cantner; Members: 
Arthur Hodge, Melvin Wood, Alternate Member #1, Mary Wood and Alternate Member 
#2, Carol Jean Jordan (arrived at 9:32 a.m.) Also Present: Airport Director, Eric Menger 
and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo 
 
Excused Absence: Louis Vocelle, Jr. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. and the Deputy City Clerk performed 
the roll call. 
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

A) September 24, 2015 
 
Mr. Wood made a motion to approve the minutes of the September 24, 2015 Airport 
Commission meeting.  Mr. Cantner seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 
None 
 
5. OLD BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Hodge referred to the minutes of the September 24, 2015 Airport Commission 
meeting.  He said that Mr. Bruce Watson and Mr. Jay Burklew were asked to submit their 
ideas and proposals in writing.  He asked has Airport staff received anything.  
 
Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, reported that staff has not received anything. 
 
Mr. Wood referred to page three of the September 24, 2015 Airport Commission minutes 
where Citrus Mobile Home Park was discussed.  He said that Mrs. Lisa Ross, Airport 
Lease Administrator, stated that according to the Building Department a mobile home is 
considered a vehicle.  But, according to the Department of Motor Vehicles a mobile 
home is not considered a vehicle.   
 

                                               1   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 



Mr. Menger said they need to decide if they want to continue being a residential landlord 
or if they want have a commercial development on that site.  He noted that staff is leaning 
towards going in the commercial direction.    
 
Mr. Wood felt that they needed to get this squared away before signing any more leases.   
 
Mrs. Drndak said it looks like the Airport Master Plan is keeping the site residential and 
does not address an alternative.  She felt they should discuss this during the presentation 
of the Airport Master Plan.   
 

A) Update on Airport Master Plan 
 
*Please note that discussion took place throughout the presentation. 
 
Mr. Pete Ricondo, Senior Vice President of Ricondo and Associates, gave a Power Point 
presentation on the Vero Beach Regional Airport Master Plan (attached to the original 
minutes).   
 
Mr. Menger referred to the slide List of Focused Actions.  He asked that item 12 be 
changed from “Recycle Asphalt Grinding” to “Recycle Construction – Development 
Byproducts.” 
 
Mrs. Drndak referred to the slide, Airport Capital Improvement Program Planning 
Activity Level 1 Projects.  She said if they were to have a commercial terminal that it is 
more of an intermodal area for buses, trains, airplanes, etc., and be located at the 
northeast corner near the railroad tracks.  She said it is her understanding that the Federal 
Government likes intermodal facilities and will supply funding for it.  She asked Mr. 
Ricondo if this would be an option.   
 
Mr. Ricondo answered yes.   
 
Mrs. Drndak said it would be good forward thinking if they could incorporate that along 
with the Airport Terminal building.  She said if they were to ever get a train stop here, it 
would assist in getting people getting to the Airport, to the terminal, and to the buses.    
 
Mr. Menger said one problem with the northeast side is the access to the runway, which 
would mean that they would have to extend and widen the utility runway.  This would 
require the purchase of the land and there also could be some environmental issues.  He 
suggested that Ricondo and Associates look into this and include in the Airport Master 
Plan why or why not the area would work. 
 
Mr. Ricondo said from a terminal standpoint, midfield is preferred because of the 
proximity to both runways. 
 
Mrs. Drndak said that she liked the midfield location if they were going to go with either 
area because it has easier access to U.S.1.   

                                               2   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 



Ms. Wood said Piper Aircraft owns property at the corner of Aviation Boulevard across 
from the County Administration Building.  She said if the City could work out a deal 
with Piper to take over the building on that property, that entire area might be very 
advantageous because it is extremely close to the railroad, to U.S.1, to Aviation 
Boulevard, and to the runway.   
 
Mrs. Drndak said that would require acquiring the property from Piper. 
 
Mr. Wood said part of the out of the box thinking is that at some point they are going to 
extend the road via an elevated roadway from Barber Bridge along the canal all the way 
to Aviation Boulevard. 
 
Mr. Menger suggested that they add in the text of the Airport Master Plan to summarize 
the areas that have been looked at.   
 
Mrs. Drndak thanked the Commission members for being forward thinking in 
approaching the FAA about including the Strategic Business Sustainability Plan.   
 
Mr. Craig Fisher, of ConEdison Solutions, introduced himself to the Commission 
members.  He said that he is present today to expand on the potential for solar 
development at the Airport.  He then gave a Power Point presentation on Development of 
Solar Photovoltaic Systems at the Vero Beach Municipal Airport (attached to the original 
minutes). 
 
Mr. Wood asked what is the cost for energy produced by a solar farm verses energy 
produced by natural gas. 
 
Mr. Bryant said if they are looking for a fixed rate for the next 25 years, the expected 
power purchase rates is somewhere between six point five cents to seven cents per watt.   
 
Mrs. Drndak asked if there was grant money available, could the Airport actually build 
the system, pay for it, and sell the electricity to the City.  She asked is that something that 
could be looked at.   
 
Mr. Bryant said there are instances where Airport Authorities build the systems and sell 
them back to the municipal utilities.  But, first the Airport Authority has to make the 
determination that they want to enter into the electric generation business.   
 
Mr. Menger noted that they are not an Airport Authority, that they are a Department of 
the City of Vero Beach. 
 
Mr. Wood asked have any of these solar farms survived a hurricane. 
 
Mr. Bryant said there were some that survived tornadoes in Texas.  He noted that in order 
for them to receive permitting the structure would have to withstand hurricane force 
winds.    

                                               3   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 



Mr. Ricondo said that he was not aware of an Airport owning a solar facility.  He was 
curious to find out if there is some type of funding program that other Airports have 
reached out to. 
 
Mrs. Drndak felt this would be worth looking into.  She said it would at least give them 
another alternative way of looking at it so they could maximize what the Airport could do 
beyond just renting out the property. 
 
Mr. Bryant said once they have the costs identified they could show different 
procurement or ownership structures.  If they have the numbers and know what the 
structure looks like and what the cash flow and return is the Airport could then seek 
grants.  He noted that there are loans or equipment leases available at very competitive 
rates.   
 
Mr. Bob Auwaerter, Utilities Commission member, said that he was speaking on behalf 
of himself and not for the Commission.  He said that he was in favor of renewable power, 
but would suggest that they get the Utilities Commission involved very quickly.  He said 
when the City redid the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) contract there was a take or 
pay provision that obligated the utility to pay for power even if they don’t use it.  It was 
his understanding that Solar Power Purchase Agreements also require a take or pay.  He 
felt they needed to look at the consequences of that in terms of whether the City could 
take on another obligation given the one they took on with OUC.  He asked Mr. Bryant if 
he had an estimate on what the production would be as to megawatt hours per year. 
 
Mr. Bryant said the average would be about 1,500 KwH per KW.  He said that is for a 
system facing dew south at about 20 degrees.  Once they up that to 25 degrees it goes up 
a little more and as they move away from the south it goes down a little. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter felt that the Utility Commission really needed to get involved with this.  
He suggested having a joint Airport Commission / Utilities Commission meeting.   
 
Mr. Bryant said his initial conversation with the City Manager was that they would bring 
it before the Utility Commission once they identify a viable project at the Airport. He 
expected to have a technically viable solution and at that point they would make a 
presentation to the Utilities Commission. 
 
Mr. George Baczynski, Utilities Commission member, asked that the Utility Commission 
members receive a copy of Mr. Bryant’s Power Point presentation.    
 
Mr. Menger asked the Commission members if they had any other changes to the Airport 
Master Plan.  He reported that once they receive comments from the FAA they would 
then present it to the City Council.  He thought that it should be ready to go before the 
City Council sometime in January.  
 
Ms. Wood said they did a great job on the Master Plan.  She referred to Exhibit ES-2, 
Land Cores, Parcel 1 / Airport Commercial Village Core.  She said there is about 10 

                                               4   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 



acres near Runway 4 in the taxiway area that could be used for additional hangars and 
still have a commercial area along Aviation Boulevard.   
 
Mrs. Drndak thought Mr. Jay Burklew mentioned that someone wanted to build an FBO 
that would service the Sports Village in that area.   
 
Mr. Menger said they would go back and take another look at that area.  
 
Ms. Wood referred to Parcel 6 / Airport West Core.  She said they discussed having the 
solar farm on a portion of this parcel to the west.  She felt that they should have the 
easement completely cover that area and not have any development other than the solar 
farm if it is viable.   
 
Mrs. Drndak thought having development in that area would be a problem because it was 
reported to them some time ago by Mrs. Ruth Stanbridge, Indian River County Historian, 
that when the Military left they dug big pits in the area and dumped equipment in them.   
 
Mrs. Drndak referred to Exhibit 5-5 / Scheduled Commercial Air Service Airport 
Terminal Retrofitting Concept.  She suggested that they replace this with the current plan 
for the terminal building since it is no longer a concept.      
 
Mr. Menger said they would update it with what they are actually doing. 
 
Mrs. Drndak then referred to page 7-5, Capital Projects to Support Commercial Air 
Service.  She read the following, “These projects were excluded from the Airport CIP, 
but are recommended for consideration if scheduled commercial air service returns to 
VRB” and “these projects would be addressed when commercial air service triggers their 
consideration, and therefore these projects are not further addressed.”  She said this 
needs to be updated because they are going to have commercial air service. 
 
Mr. Menger said they would update the text.  
 
Mrs. Drndak said they need to update the sections in the Airport Master Plan where it 
discusses airline service. 
  
Mrs. Drndak referred to page 7-8, item PAL 1 / Rehabilitate Utilities in Citrus Park 
Village Mobile Home Park.  She questioned if they want to commit that funding since 
they are moving away from having the Park. 
 
Mr. Menger answered no. 
 
Mrs. Drndak asked how they would address this. 
 
Mr. Menger said they would continue forward in parallel paths.  If they decide they want 
to keep the Mobile Home Park they need to keep this in the Master Plan.   
 

                                               5   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 



Mr. Wood made a motion to move the Airport Master Plan forward to the City 
Council with the suggested changes.  Mr. Cantner seconded the motion and it 
passed 5-0 with Ms. Wood voting yes, Mr. Hodge yes, Mr. Wood yes, Mr. Cantner 
yes and Mrs. Drndak yes.   
  
6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS 
 
None 
 
7. AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S MATTERS 
 
None  
 
8. NEXT MEETING DATE 
 
After a brief discussion, the Commission members agreed not to set a date for their next 
meeting at this time. 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s meeting adjourned at 12:50 p.m. 
 
/sp 
 
 
 

                                               6   11/05/15 Airport Commission 
 


















	JOINT AIRPORT COMMISSION/ UTILITIES COMMISSION MEETING
	Thursday, February 25, 2016 – 9:30 a.m.
	City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida
	AGENDA
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	2. SOLAR FARM PRESENTATION – Con-Edison Solutions
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	4. ADJOURNMENT
	*Please note that upon adjournment the Airport Commission will hold their regularly scheduled meeting.
	AIRPORT COMMISSION AGENDA
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	 A) November 5, 2015
	3. ELECTION OF OFFICERS
	A) Chairman
	B) Vice Chairman
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	A) North Ramp Parcel 3 (former Airport Operations Building)
	B) North Ramp Parcel 12 (current Sheriff’s Hangar)
	5. OLD BUSINESS
	 A) Update on Airport Master Plan
	6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS
	7. MEMBER’S MATTERS
	8. AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S MATTERS
	9. NEXT MEETING DATE
	10. ADJOURNMENT
	This is a Public Meeting.  Should any interested party seek to appeal any decision made by the Commission with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, they will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, they may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  Anyone who needs a special accommodation for this meeting may contact the City’s Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Coordinator at 978-4922 at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting.
	110515minutes.pdf
	VERO BEACH AIRPORT COMMISSION MEETING
	Thursday, November 5, 2015 – 9:30 a.m.
	City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida
	PRESENT: Chairman, Barbara Drndak; Vice Chairman, Richard Cantner; Members: Arthur Hodge, Melvin Wood, Alternate Member #1, Mary Wood and Alternate Member #2, Carol Jean Jordan (arrived at 9:32 a.m.) Also Present: Airport Director, Eric Menger and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo
	Excused Absence: Louis Vocelle, Jr.
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. and the Deputy City Clerk performed the roll call.
	2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A) September 24, 2015
	Mr. Wood made a motion to approve the minutes of the September 24, 2015 Airport Commission meeting.  Mr. Cantner seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	None
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	None
	5. OLD BUSINESS
	Mr. Hodge referred to the minutes of the September 24, 2015 Airport Commission meeting.  He said that Mr. Bruce Watson and Mr. Jay Burklew were asked to submit their ideas and proposals in writing.  He asked has Airport staff received anything. 
	Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, reported that staff has not received anything.
	Mr. Wood referred to page three of the September 24, 2015 Airport Commission minutes where Citrus Mobile Home Park was discussed.  He said that Mrs. Lisa Ross, Airport Lease Administrator, stated that according to the Building Department a mobile home is considered a vehicle.  But, according to the Department of Motor Vehicles a mobile home is not considered a vehicle.  
	Mr. Menger said they need to decide if they want to continue being a residential landlord or if they want have a commercial development on that site.  He noted that staff is leaning towards going in the commercial direction.   
	Mr. Wood felt that they needed to get this squared away before signing any more leases.  
	Mrs. Drndak said it looks like the Airport Master Plan is keeping the site residential and does not address an alternative.  She felt they should discuss this during the presentation of the Airport Master Plan.  
	A) Update on Airport Master Plan
	*Please note that discussion took place throughout the presentation.
	Mr. Pete Ricondo, Senior Vice President of Ricondo and Associates, gave a Power Point presentation on the Vero Beach Regional Airport Master Plan (attached to the original minutes).  
	Mr. Menger referred to the slide List of Focused Actions.  He asked that item 12 be changed from “Recycle Asphalt Grinding” to “Recycle Construction – Development Byproducts.”
	Mrs. Drndak referred to the slide, Airport Capital Improvement Program Planning Activity Level 1 Projects.  She said if they were to have a commercial terminal that it is more of an intermodal area for buses, trains, airplanes, etc., and be located at the northeast corner near the railroad tracks.  She said it is her understanding that the Federal Government likes intermodal facilities and will supply funding for it.  She asked Mr. Ricondo if this would be an option.  
	Mr. Ricondo answered yes.  
	Mrs. Drndak said it would be good forward thinking if they could incorporate that along with the Airport Terminal building.  She said if they were to ever get a train stop here, it would assist in getting people getting to the Airport, to the terminal, and to the buses.   
	Mr. Menger said one problem with the northeast side is the access to the runway, which would mean that they would have to extend and widen the utility runway.  This would require the purchase of the land and there also could be some environmental issues.  He suggested that Ricondo and Associates look into this and include in the Airport Master Plan why or why not the area would work.
	Mr. Ricondo said from a terminal standpoint, midfield is preferred because of the proximity to both runways.
	Mrs. Drndak said that she liked the midfield location if they were going to go with either area because it has easier access to U.S.1.  
	Ms. Wood said Piper Aircraft owns property at the corner of Aviation Boulevard across from the County Administration Building.  She said if the City could work out a deal with Piper to take over the building on that property, that entire area might be very advantageous because it is extremely close to the railroad, to U.S.1, to Aviation Boulevard, and to the runway.  
	Mrs. Drndak said that would require acquiring the property from Piper.
	Mr. Wood said part of the out of the box thinking is that at some point they are going to extend the road via an elevated roadway from Barber Bridge along the canal all the way to Aviation Boulevard.
	Mr. Menger suggested that they add in the text of the Airport Master Plan to summarize the areas that have been looked at.  
	Mrs. Drndak thanked the Commission members for being forward thinking in approaching the FAA about including the Strategic Business Sustainability Plan.  
	Mr. Craig Fisher, of ConEdison Solutions, introduced himself to the Commission members.  He said that he is present today to expand on the potential for solar development at the Airport.  He then gave a Power Point presentation on Development of Solar Photovoltaic Systems at the Vero Beach Municipal Airport (attached to the original minutes).
	Mr. Wood asked what is the cost for energy produced by a solar farm verses energy produced by natural gas.
	Mr. Bryant said if they are looking for a fixed rate for the next 25 years, the expected power purchase rates is somewhere between six point five cents to seven cents per watt.  
	Mrs. Drndak asked if there was grant money available, could the Airport actually build the system, pay for it, and sell the electricity to the City.  She asked is that something that could be looked at.  
	Mr. Bryant said there are instances where Airport Authorities build the systems and sell them back to the municipal utilities.  But, first the Airport Authority has to make the determination that they want to enter into the electric generation business.  
	Mr. Menger noted that they are not an Airport Authority, that they are a Department of the City of Vero Beach.
	Mr. Wood asked have any of these solar farms survived a hurricane.
	Mr. Bryant said there were some that survived tornadoes in Texas.  He noted that in order for them to receive permitting the structure would have to withstand hurricane force winds.   
	Mr. Ricondo said that he was not aware of an Airport owning a solar facility.  He was curious to find out if there is some type of funding program that other Airports have reached out to.
	Mrs. Drndak felt this would be worth looking into.  She said it would at least give them another alternative way of looking at it so they could maximize what the Airport could do beyond just renting out the property.
	Mr. Bryant said once they have the costs identified they could show different procurement or ownership structures.  If they have the numbers and know what the structure looks like and what the cash flow and return is the Airport could then seek grants.  He noted that there are loans or equipment leases available at very competitive rates.  
	Mr. Bob Auwaerter, Utilities Commission member, said that he was speaking on behalf of himself and not for the Commission.  He said that he was in favor of renewable power, but would suggest that they get the Utilities Commission involved very quickly.  He said when the City redid the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) contract there was a take or pay provision that obligated the utility to pay for power even if they don’t use it.  It was his understanding that Solar Power Purchase Agreements also require a take or pay.  He felt they needed to look at the consequences of that in terms of whether the City could take on another obligation given the one they took on with OUC.  He asked Mr. Bryant if he had an estimate on what the production would be as to megawatt hours per year.
	Mr. Bryant said the average would be about 1,500 KwH per KW.  He said that is for a system facing dew south at about 20 degrees.  Once they up that to 25 degrees it goes up a little more and as they move away from the south it goes down a little.
	Mr. Auwaerter felt that the Utility Commission really needed to get involved with this.  He suggested having a joint Airport Commission / Utilities Commission meeting.  
	Mr. Bryant said his initial conversation with the City Manager was that they would bring it before the Utility Commission once they identify a viable project at the Airport. He expected to have a technically viable solution and at that point they would make a presentation to the Utilities Commission.
	Mr. George Baczynski, Utilities Commission member, asked that the Utility Commission members receive a copy of Mr. Bryant’s Power Point presentation.   
	Mr. Menger asked the Commission members if they had any other changes to the Airport Master Plan.  He reported that once they receive comments from the FAA they would then present it to the City Council.  He thought that it should be ready to go before the City Council sometime in January. 
	Ms. Wood said they did a great job on the Master Plan.  She referred to Exhibit ES-2, Land Cores, Parcel 1 / Airport Commercial Village Core.  She said there is about 10 acres near Runway 4 in the taxiway area that could be used for additional hangars and still have a commercial area along Aviation Boulevard.  
	Mrs. Drndak thought Mr. Jay Burklew mentioned that someone wanted to build an FBO that would service the Sports Village in that area.  
	Mr. Menger said they would go back and take another look at that area. 
	Ms. Wood referred to Parcel 6 / Airport West Core.  She said they discussed having the solar farm on a portion of this parcel to the west.  She felt that they should have the easement completely cover that area and not have any development other than the solar farm if it is viable.  
	Mrs. Drndak thought having development in that area would be a problem because it was reported to them some time ago by Mrs. Ruth Stanbridge, Indian River County Historian, that when the Military left they dug big pits in the area and dumped equipment in them.  
	Mrs. Drndak referred to Exhibit 5-5 / Scheduled Commercial Air Service Airport Terminal Retrofitting Concept.  She suggested that they replace this with the current plan for the terminal building since it is no longer a concept.     
	Mr. Menger said they would update it with what they are actually doing.
	Mrs. Drndak then referred to page 7-5, Capital Projects to Support Commercial Air Service.  She read the following, “These projects were excluded from the Airport CIP, but are recommended for consideration if scheduled commercial air service returns to VRB” and “these projects would be addressed when commercial air service triggers their consideration, and therefore these projects are not further addressed.”  She said this needs to be updated because they are going to have commercial air service.
	Mr. Menger said they would update the text. 
	Mrs. Drndak said they need to update the sections in the Airport Master Plan where it discusses airline service.
	Mrs. Drndak referred to page 7-8, item PAL 1 / Rehabilitate Utilities in Citrus Park Village Mobile Home Park.  She questioned if they want to commit that funding since they are moving away from having the Park.
	Mr. Menger answered no.
	Mrs. Drndak asked how they would address this.
	Mr. Menger said they would continue forward in parallel paths.  If they decide they want to keep the Mobile Home Park they need to keep this in the Master Plan.  
	Mr. Wood made a motion to move the Airport Master Plan forward to the City Council with the suggested changes.  Mr. Cantner seconded the motion and it passed 5-0 with Ms. Wood voting yes, Mr. Hodge yes, Mr. Wood yes, Mr. Cantner yes and Mrs. Drndak yes.  
	6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS
	None
	7. AIRPORT DIRECTOR’S MATTERS
	None 
	8. NEXT MEETING DATE
	After a brief discussion, the Commission members agreed not to set a date for their next meeting at this time.
	9. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s meeting adjourned at 12:50 p.m.
	/sp



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


